IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,199

FRANK LEE SMITH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS H. DUNN Special Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 871753 805 North **Gadsden** Street, Suite A Tallahassee, FL 32303-6313 (904) 683-6499 LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

JOHN S. SOMMER Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 826126

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PACTS

On May 9, 1985, Mr. Smith was indicted by a grand jury for first-degree murder, sexual battery, and burglary in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida. After entering not guilty pleas, Mr. Smith was tried by a jury beginning on January 21, 1985. The trial lasted eight days. After eight hours and twenty-five minutes of deliberations, the jury returned a guilty verdict (R. 1252). On February 5, 1986, the one-day penalty phase was held and the jury recommended death (R. 1364). On May 2, 1986, the judge sentenced Mr. Smith to death (R. 1440). Mr. Smith unsuccessfully appealed his convictions and sentence, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 182 (Fla. **1987)**, and certiorari by the United Supreme Court was denied on March 21, 1988, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 485 U.S. 971 (1988).

Under the exigencies of a warrant, Mr. Smith filed **a Rule** 3.850 motion in the circuit court and a habeas corpus petition in this Court. Without an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied Mr. Smith Rule 3.850 relief.

~**A** 

а

This Court denied Mr. Smith's habeas petition, but as to Mr. Smith's Rule 3.850 motion held, "the trial court erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing to evaluate this newly discovered evidence [Chiquita Lowe's affidavit]." Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293, 1297 (Fla. 1990). This Court reasoned:

At trial, the state's case against Smith consisted primarily of an allegedly inculpatory statement made by Smith and identification of Smith made by three witnesses. Dorothy **McGriff**, the victim's mother, testified that as she drove up to her home at **11:30 p.m.**, she saw a map standing outside one of the

She observed the man from a distance and windows. could not identify his face. She later identified Smith based only on his shoulders. Chiquita Lowe testified that as she drove past the victim's house, a man flagged her down and asked her for fifty cents. She "looked dead at him" from a distance of eighteen inches and later conclusively identified Smith as the man. Gerald Davis testified that as he walked past the man. victim's house, a man engaged him in a conversation for several minutes. The street lights were out and Davis could not remember "how the guy looked." He testified that Smith looked like the man but he could not identify him positively. Of the witness identifications presented at trial, that of Lowe clearly was the most credible. After the jury had deliberated for five hours, it reauested that it be permitted to rehear Lowe's **testimony.** The court declined. One hour later, the iurv repeated itg Two and one-half hours The court acceded. request. later, the jury rendered its verdict.

Smith, 565 So. 2d at 1296-97 (emphasis added).

On March 7, 1991, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing as ordered by this Court. The circuit court only permitted Mr. Smith to present Ms. Lowe's testimony. Except for a proffer, the circuit court would not allow Mr. Smith to put in any corroborative evidence that Eddie Lee Mosley, the man Ms. Lowe's affidavit says she saw the night of the offense, was the man who committed this crime, and that Mr. Smith was not that man (P.C.-R. 27-47, 106-07). The proffered evidence included: **a** list of suspected Mosley victims, newspaper articles regarding Mosley, Dr. **Frumkin's** psychological evaluation **of Mosley**, Dr. Cohen's psychological evaluation of Mosley, Leslie **Alker's** HRS report on Mosley, Dr. **Eichert's** psychological report **on** Mosley, Dr. **Koprowski's** psychological report on Mosley, Cynthia Maxwell's deposition testimony regarding **Mosley's** sexual assault of her, Lisa **Weisman's** affidavit testimony regarding **Mosley's** sexual

assault of her, an involuntary hospitalization order regarding Mosley, a motion appointing a mental health expert for Mosley, a Broward Sheriff's Office (B.S.O.) booking sheet regarding Mosley dated 5/19/87, a B.S.O. booking sheet regarding Mosley dated 5/17/84, a B.S.O. booking sheet regarding Mosley dated 4/30/82, a B.S.O. booking sheet regarding Mosley dated 4/12/80, a Ft. Lauderdale police report regarding Mosley dated 12/25/83, and Dr. Hathaway's testimony regarding Mr. Smith's eyesight.

In her affidavit and in her hearing testimony, Chiquita Lowe stated she identified the wrong man at trial. Ms. Lowe's mistake was an understandable one as Mr. Smith and Mr. Mosley, the man Ms. Lowe identified as the perpetrator in her affidavit and hearing testimony, look alike. The biggest difference between Mr. Smith and Mr. Mosley is their size. Although Mr. Davis and Ms. Lowe said that Mr. smith looked like the man they saw that night, Mr. Davis repeatedly stated that he thought that Mr. Smith was not big enough. Ms. Lowe had only seen a photograph of Mr. Smith's face prior to trial, and Ms. Lowe did not realize that Mr. Smith was the wrong man. When she first saw Mr. smith in person at the trial, she realized that Mr. Smith was not large enough to be the man she saw that night. It was too late, and Ms. Lowe did not know what to do. Due to the pressure she felt, Ms. Lowe identified Mr. Smith as the man she saw, even though she knew at the time he was the wrong man.

The circuit court allowed the State to present Ms. McGriff, the victim's mother, who testified that she was shown a

photograph of Mr. Mosley by Detectives Scheff and Amabile and told them he was not the man she saw that night (PC-R. 114). Mr. Mosley was Ms. McGriff's cousin (Id.). Ms. McGriff did not see Mr. Mosley's picture in a 6-picture photo lineup but in a photo book the police showed her (PC-R. 119). The State was also allowed to present Detectives Scheff and Amabile, the two police officers who investigated the case. The officers testified that the three witnesses -- Dorothy McGriff, Gerald Davis and Chiquita Lowe -- were all shown three photo lineups, each consisting of six photos (PC-R. 132-133). Officer Scheff testified that the third photo lineup, containing Mr. Smith's picture, was shown to Ms. Lowe on April 19, 1985 (PC-R. 132). The offense occurred on April 14, and Officer Scheff testified he went to see Mr. Mosley after the offense (PC-R. 1.48). Before April 19, according to Officer Scheff's hearing testimony, Ms. Lowe and the other witnesses had been shown a photo lineup containing Mr. Mosley's picture (PC-R. 133). According to Officer Scheff, none of the witnesses identified Mr. Mosley (PC-R. 135). The State did not introduce a copy of the photo lineup containing Mr. Mosley's picture and did not introduce any police reports indicating that such a lineup had been shown to the witnesses. Officer Scheff testified that his reports did not indicate he showed any witnesses a photo lineup containing Mr. Mosley's picture (PC-R. 160).

Officer Scheff admitted on the stand that his hearing testimony directly contradicted his prior trial testimony (PC.-R.

181). Both Detectives Scheff and Amabile testified at Mr. Smith's trial that the witnesses, Ms. Lowe, Mr. Davis, and Mrs. McGriff, were shown only two photo lineups -- one containing a Mr. Freeman's photo and one containing Mr. Smith's photo (R. 946, Amabile and R. 1026, Scheff), Their testimony at trial was also consistent with the sworn testimony they both gave at their depositions. Moreover, at trial Ms. Lowe testified about only those two photo lineups (R. 678-82 [Smith photo lineup]; R. 684 (Freeman photo lineup]). Mr. Davis also testified at trial that he viewed only two photo lineups (R. 784). In fact, the prosecutor introduced both lineups into evidence at trial to show that Freeman was eliminated as a suspect (R. 881, Freeman photo lineup, and R. 902, Smith photo lineup).

Detective Scheff, the lead investigator in this case, gave a very lengthy and detailed deposition covering in chronological order everything he did in this case. He never mentioned that Mr. Mosley was a serious suspect that they actively investigated. He did not mention that there was a third photolineup containing Mr. Mosley's photograph. He did not mention that Mr. Mosley was a relative of Mrs. McGriff. After Detective Scheff explained that Mr. Freeman was eliminated as a suspect by Ms. Lowe, Mr. Davis, and Mrs. McGriff, the following colloquy occurred:

**Q.** Did you have, at this point in time, anybody in mind?

- A. You mean, as a suspect?
- Q. Yes.
- A. Oh, no. .

**Q.** How about any relative of the deceased, uncles, cousins?

A. We had booked an individual by the name of Edwin McGriff, who is a cousin to Dorothy. As I had indicated earlier, we checked with - on the first night, for similar crimes. And, at that point in time, we discovered that Edwin McGriff had been accused, I think, in 1982, of a sexual battery of a minor black female child, and subsequently, we sat Dorothy McGriff down and explored the possibility with her that it might have been her cousin. She was quite emphatic that the person that she had seen was not her cousin and that she was being truthful. It was my feeling that she was.

(Scheff deposition p. 44). Again at Mr. Smith's trial, Detective Scheff was asked about relatives and again he indicated that a cousin, Edwin McGriff, was the only family member who was a suspect (R. 1022-23). Detective Scheff testified that this cousin, Edwin McGriff, was never displayed in a photo lineup (R. 1024). Detective Scheff did admit at trial that Mr. Mosley was a suspect, but testified that no photo lineup containing Mr, **Mosley's** picture was **ever** shown to the witnesses:

**Q** Was Eddie Lee Mosley ever a suspect in this case?

A Eddie Lee Mosley was a suspect in this case along with Edwin McGriff. Initially when we first began investigating the case, really had no specific direction to go in.

**Q** How about Jessie Smith?

 ${\tt A} {\tt Jessie}$  Smith is Eddie Lee Mosley under an alias name.

Q Lee Greely, G-r-e-e-l-y Smith?

A I don't know.

**Q** That's all I have.

A Spell it-again?

Q G-r-e-e-l-y. Doesn't ring a bell?

A No.

 ${\tt Q}$   $% {\tt Q}$  The man called Gator Mouth ever a suspect in this case?

A Yes.

Q The man that went by the name of Gator Mouth?

A Right.

Q Was a guy by the name of Big John ever a suspect in this case?

**A** Yes. I wouldn't say they were suspects in the case. I would say they were people who were brought to our attention for one reason or another.

**Q** How about Edward Simmons, did you ever check with John Boucada of your department? He supposedly looks like Mr. Smith.

MR. DIMITROULEAS: I will object to counsel testifying and **I'm** objecting to the form of the question.

THE COURT: Objection sustained, may **be** rephrased.

Q (By Mr. **Washor**) Did you ever investigate Edward Smith?

A Edward Simmons?

Q Simmons.

A No, sir.

**Q** Never had any contact **with Detective** Boucada regarding him?

A No, sir.

0 Were ary of these people ever shown to any of the witnesses in either a photo or live lineup, people whose names I just read off other than Freeman?

A <u>Other than Freeman, no.</u>

(R. 1024 - 1026) (emphasis added).

At a pre-trial deposition, defense counsel specifically asked Detective Amabile if any of Mrs. **McGriff's** cousins were ever suspected of the murder. Detective Amabile responded that Edwin McGriff was the only cousin ever considered a suspect (Amabile Deposition at p. 44). Detective Amabile was asked this again at Mr. Smith's trial and again responded that no family members, other than Edwin McGriff, were suspects (R. 946). Moreover, Detective Amabile, like Detective Scheff, testified at trial that none of the suspects, with the exception of Freeman, were displayed in a photo lineup:

 ${\bf Q}$  . There were a slew of other suspects in this case, weren't there, besides Mr. Freeman?

A A slew or --

**Q** More than one?

A Yes.

**Q** Was there a Carspelia (phonetic) Williams who was a suspect?

A His name was given to us.

**Q** Eddie Lee Mosley?

A Yes.

**Q** Jessie Smith?

A I don't recall that name.

**Q** Greeley (phonetic) Smith?

A Again, I don't recall that name.

**Q** Edward Calvin McGriff?

A Yes.

**Q** Was he related to the family at all?

A I believe so, yes.

**Q** A person by the name of Gator Mouth?

A Yes.

**Q** A person by the name of Big John who Detective Frost said in his report somebody identified a composite?

A Yes.

**Q** Were any of these leads followed up on?

A Yes.

**Q** Were they all followed up on?

A Yes, to the best of my knowledge with the exception of the two names I don't recall hearing.

**Q** What became of Big John?

A That I believe Detective **Scheff** and myself checked **out** and he did not fit the physical description at all.

**Q** Is that reflected in **anywhere** in your notes or reports or anything of that nature?.

A No, that would be Detective Scheff's.

**Q** He should have it somewhere?

A He should.

• Were any of these other **people** other than Mr. <u>Freeman in the **photographic display or in the live**</u> <u>lineup shown to any other witnesses</u>?

A <u>No</u>.

Q <u>Did you investisate any of the family members</u> <u>backgrounds</u> to see whether they were ever involved in this kind of thing before?

A <u>I believe Edward McGriff</u>.

Q An<u>vbodv else</u>?

A <u>No</u>.

# (R. 945-6) (emphasis added).

At the conclusion of the hearing, it was decided that the State and Mr. Smith would simultaneously do post-hearing memoranda (PC-R. 205). Post-hearing memoranda were done (PC-R. 231-64). The State and the circuit court judge then had ex parte communication in which the circuit court asked the State to prepare an order (PC-R. 274). The state then sent with a cover letter a proposed order to Mr. Smith (PC-R. 274-78). Mr. Smith filed a Motion to Disqualify the circuit court judge because of the ex parte communication (PC-R. 265-82). The motion was denied. Mr. Smith also filed objections to the **state's** draft order (PC-R. 279). The circuit court never ruled on Mr. Smith's objections, but signed verbatim the State's proposed order (<u>Compare PC-R. 275-78</u> [proposed order] with PC-R. 284-87 [signed order]). Mr. Smith appealed.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The circuit court denied Mr. Smith his right to be heard by an impartial tribunal when the circuit court judge engaged in ex parte communication with the Assistant State Attorney representing the State. After the evidentiary hearing, Assistant State Attorney Zacks informed Mr. Smith's counsel that Judge Tyson had contacted Mr. Zacks and discussed Mr. Smith's case. Judge Tyson directed Mr. Zacks to prepare an order denying relief. Mr. Smith and his counsel were not privy to the discussion. Upon learning of the ex parte communication, Mr. Smith's counsel filed a motion to disqualify Judge Tyson. The

motion was denied, and Judge Tyson signed verbatim the order prepared by the State. The motion to disqualify was facially sufficient and timely, and Judge Tyson should have **recused** himself. Because of the ex parte communication, Mr. Smith reasonably questioned Judge Tyson's impartiality. Under <u>Rose v.</u> <u>State</u>, the ex parte communication requires reversal and a new evidentiary hearing.

The circuit court also denied Mr. Smith a full and fair hearing when it refused to admit or consider evidence relevant to Mr. Smith's claim. This evidence supported Mr. Smith's claim that Eddie Lee **Mosley**, not Mr. Smith, committed the murder. The trial court's refusal to admit this evidence denied Mr. smith a fair opportunity to prove his claim, and a new evidentiary hearing is required.

2. At the evidentiary hearing, Chiquita Lowe **testified** that she was mistaken when she identified Mr. Smith at trial as the man she saw the night of the murder. Ms. Lowe realized this mistake when she saw Mr. Smith in the courtroom. Before then, she had only seen a photograph of Mr. Smith's face. When she saw Mr. Smith at trial, Ms. Lowe realized he was not big enough to be the man she saw. However, even though realizing her mistake at trial, Ms, Lowe did not know what to do and thus identified Mr. Smith. At the evidentiary hearing, Ms. Lowe positively identified Mr. Mosley as the man she saw. The circuit court determined that Ms. Lowe is "convinced" that Mr. Mosley is the man she saw.

Nevertheless, the circuit court erroneously denied relief, although had Ms. Lowe's identification of Mr. Mosley been presented at trial, Mr. Smith would not have been convicted. The circuit court premised its denial of relief upon the supposed existence of a third photo lineup containing Mr. Mosley's picture. The State's witnesses at the evidentiary hearing testified that this third photo lineup was shown to all of the identification witnesses shortly after the offense in 1985. The circuit court reasoned that Ms. Lowe identified Mr. Mosley because she had been shown his picture in 1985, not because she had seen him the night of the offense. This premise, however, is contrary to everything in the pretrial and trial record: pretrial and **at** trial, every witness -- the detectives and identification witnesses -- testified under oath that the identification witnesses were shown only two photo lineups. one lineup contained Mr. Smith's picture, and the other contained a Mr. Freeman's picture. At trial, the detectives specifically testified that the witnesses were **not** shown a lineup containing Mr. Mosley's picture. There was no third Mosley lineup, and thus the circuit court's premise for denying relief is incorrect. Ms. Lowe identified Mr. Mosley because he was the man she saw. This evidence would have resulted in Mr. Smiths' acquittal. Relief is required.

## ARGUMENT

#### <u>ARGUMENT I</u>

TEE CIRCUIT COURT DENIED MR. SMITE HIS RIGHT TO BE HEARD BY AN IMPARTIAL TRIBUNAL WHEN IT ENGAGED IN EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS WITE THE STATE AND DENIED MR. SMITE HIS RIGHT TO A FULL AND FAIR HEARING WHEN IT PRECLUDED MR. SMITE FROM INTRODUCING RELEVANT EVIDENCE, AND THIS CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR A FULL AND FAIR EVIDENTIARY HEARING BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL TRIBUNAL.

A. The circuit court denied Mr. smith his **right** to be heard **by** an **impartial** tribunal when it **engaged** in **ex parte** communications with the Stat+.

On March 7, 1991, an evidentiary hearing was held in Mr. Smith's case pursuant to this Court's order. On April 29, 1991, Assistant State Attorney Paul Zacks left a message for Mr. Smith's counsel to call Mr. Zacks. Subsequently, Martin McClain, Chief Assistant CCR, returned the call. At that time, Mr. Zacks said that Judge Tyson had telephoned Mr. Zacks and discussed Mr. Smith's case. As a result of that discussion, Mr. Zacks was assigned to draft 'an order denying Mr. Smith relief. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Smith's counsel received via facsimile a draft order and an accompanying cover letter detailing the timetable Judge Tyson and Mr. Zacks had worked out.

After learning of the ex parte communication between Judge Tyson and the State, counsel for Mr. Smith filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge, requesting that Judge Tyson **recuse** himself from Mr. Smith's case because of the ex parte communication (PC-R. 265-66). Counsel for Mr. Smith also filed Objections to Draft Order, arguing:

On May 7, 1991, defense counsel received the State's draft of a-proposed order denying 3.850 relief

in the above entitled matter. The proposed order and its cover letter accompany this pleading. Defense counsel's understanding is that the Order was drafted by the State after Judge Tyson called Assistant State Attorney Paul **Zacks** and discussed the matter. Neither Mr. Smith nor undersigned counsel were privy to that discussion. Undersigned counsel had requested that any post-hearing discussions about the case not be ex parte and that such discussions be conducted with all parties present. Counsel further suggested that the discussions could be telephonic but that a court reporter should be on the line in order to put the discussions on the record.

(PC-R. 279). Judge **Tyson** did not rule on the Objections to Draft Order. On June 6, 1991, Judge Tyson denied the Motion to Disqualify (PC-R. **283)**, and, the next day, June 7, 1991, signed verbatim the State's order (PC-R. 284-87).

Judge Tyson's actions in conducting ex parte discussions with the State regarding the merits of Mr. Smith's case denied Mr. Smith his right to have his case adjudicated by an impartial tribunal, in violation of Florida law, due process, **equal** protection, and **the** Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The ex parte communication between Judge Tyson and the State denied Mr. Smith **"the** cold neutrality of an impartial **judge":**

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