FILED

۰.

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 2 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

FRANK LEE SMITH,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 78,199

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
 SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

In concluding that Colony Square was not denied due process, the Eleventh Circuit relied on two facts: (1) the bankruptcy judge had already reached a firm decision before asking Prudential's attorney to draft the orders, and (2) the judge had held hearings where he 'played an active and inquiring role," and was thus not swayed or influenced by Prudential's proposed orders; rather, he directed Prudential's attorneys to "draft orders which reached a particular result and discussed specific points." Id. Based on these facts, it found that the bankruptcy judge "did not abdicate his adjudicative role." Id. It also found compelling the fact that appellate review of the complained-of order "serves to correct any errors in the procedure used " by the bankruptcy judge. Id. at Finally, the Eleventh Circuit rejected Colony Square's 277. contention that the bankruptcy judge was obligated to recuse himself because the ex parte communications and ghostwritten orders raised the "appearance of impropriety." Id. at 276 n.14. See also Anderson v. City of Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 571-73 (1985)

(rejecting application of closer scrutiny to findings of fact adopted by court from orders proposed by prevailing party, especially where court provided framework in earlier memo, opposing party was provided opportunity to respond to findings, and court modified proposed findings); <u>In re Dixie Broadcasting, Inc.</u>, 871 **F.2d** 1023, 1029-30 (11th Cir. 1989) (applying <u>Colony Square</u> to reject due process claim where bankruptcy judge asked party in court to prepare order, opposing counsel made no request to review order or for opportunity to make objections to it, and parties had ample opportunity to argue their case), <u>cert. denied</u>, 493 U.S. 853 (1990).

Here, Appellant was granted an evidentiary hearing and was allowed to submit a post-hearing memorandum, which he did. The trial judge made a firm decision and drafted at least a framework for the order before calling the State to prepare the order. Appellant was provided a copy of the proposed order and was given an opportunity to object to the substance of it, which he chose not to do. Under these circumstances, any error occasioned by any ex *parte* communications did not prejudice Appellant or deny him due process of law. Moreover, review of the trial court's order will serve to correct any errors in the procedures used by the trial court. Therefore, this Court should deny Appellant's due process claim and, ultimately, his appeal.

B. Limitation of testimony and evidence

In Claim I of his 3.850 motion, Appellant alleged that trial counsel failed to investigate Eddie Lee Mosley as a suspect and impeach his elimination by the police. (PCR 109-10, ¶ 24-25). In Claim II, he alleged that the State withheld evidence relating to Mosley's status as a suspect and his elimination by the police. (PCR 111-12). In Claim III, he alleged that the State presented false testimony regarding Mosley's status as **a** suspect and his elimination. (PCR 115-16, ¶¶ 6-9). Finally, in Claim IV, he claimed as newly discovered evidence that Eddie Lee Mosley had been indicted in two rape/murders and tied to six other rape/murders plus five sexual batteries in the northwest section of Fort Lauderdale between 1973 and 1987, that Mosley was considered by Fort Lauderdale police as the city's "most dangerous serial killer," that Mosley had an I.Q. of 51, that Mosley had twice been found incompetent to stand trial, that Mosley was a loner and lived on the streets, and that Mosley was arrested for pushing a shopping cart full of stolen plants down the street with the intent to sell them--all of which allegedly corroborated witnesses' descriptions of the man seen around the victim's home at or around the time of the murder. Appellant did not, however, allege the source of such information, nor attach any documents to his motion to support

these allegations. (PCR 117-21). The trial court summarily denied all four claims. (PCR 29-30, 33, 37-38, 43-45).

On appeal, this Court affirmed the trial court's denial of these claims: "Smith's allegations that the police lied about and withheld evidence concerning other suspects are insufficiently supported." <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 565 So. 2d 1293, 1295 (Fla. 1990). However, regarding Appellant's last-minute newly discovered evidence claim based on Chiquita Lowe's affidavit, this Court stated,

> Smith asserts that the trial court should have held an evidentiary hearing to evaluate new evidence. We agree. . . .

> > * * * *

In his motion for reconsideration of rehearing, Smith submitted an affidavit by [Chiquita] Lowe in which she swears that the man she saw was not Smith but Eddie Lee Mosley, a former suspect who has since been implicated in numerous rape/murders and sexual batteries occurring during the **same** time period and in the same geographical area as the instant crime. The affidavit reads:

[Quotation of entire affidavit].

We conclude that the trial court erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing to evaluate this newly discovered evidence.

Smith, 565 So. 2d at 1294-96.

From the opinion, it is obvious that the scope of the remand was limited to Chiquita Lowe's recanted testimony. At the

subsequent evidentiary hearing, however, Appellant sought to introduce extraneous evidence relating to Eddie Lee Mosley, which the trial court prohibited. Some was offered to support an ancillary motion for subpoenas, and the rest was offered as substantive evidence to corroborate Lowe's testimony. For example, Appellant filed a motion a week before the evidentiary hearing, asking the trial court to issue a subpoena duces tecum to the Broward County Medical Examiner so that he could obtain autopsy records relating to murders committed by Eddie Lee Mosley.¹² He wanted to use the information to corroborate Chiquita Lowe's assertion that Mosley was the actual perpetrator in this case. To support his motion, Appellant sought to append a list of murder victims allegedly attributable to Mosley, and a newspaper article suggesting that Mosley is a serial killer. (PCR2 15-19, 21-22). The State's objection to the timeliness of such **a** request and the relevancy of any such information was sustained. (PCR2 19-26) .

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in prohibiting the admission of the list of murder victims and the newspaper article <u>as substantive evidence</u>. **Corrected initial brief** at 23-29. The list of **Mosley's** alleged

¹² The evidentiary hearing was not held until six months after this Court issued its mandate; yet, Appellant had not made any attempt to seek the subpoena during this time. Rather, he waited until the week before the hearing to file his motion, and then argued the motion at the hearing.

victims and the newspaper article, however, <u>were not offered as</u> <u>su stantive evidence</u>. They were submitted to support Appellant's motion for the issuance of a subpoena duces tecum. They were considered for that purpose, and the motion **was** denied. Appellant never sought to introduce them as substantive evidence at the evidentiary hearing. Nor does he challenge the trial court's denial of that motion.

Regardless, such documents were inadmissible hearsay, beyond the scope of the evidentiary hearing, and/or irrelevant. The only authority on which Appellant relies to support their admission is State v. Savino. 567 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1990), which stands for the general proposition that reverse William's rule evidence may be admissible if relevant. Relevancy, however, is not the only requirement for admission. Evidentiary foundations must be met in a 3.850 hearing as in any other hearing. Cf. Morris v. State 624 So. 2d 864, 865 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) ("[A] ffidavits generally cannot substitute for live testimony, subject to cross-examination, in proceedings under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850."); In re: Amemdment to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure -- Capital Postconviction Public Records Production, 683 So. 2d 47, 476 (Fla. 1996) ("Any public record that a postconviction defendant offers into evidence in a postconviction proceeding shall be admitted on the basis of the applicable law of evidence.").

Neither of these documents fell within any exception to the hearsay rule. Moreover, the State had no way to cross-examine or refute the substance of the list or the newspaper article. Thus, absent any indicia of their reliability, they were properly denied admission. <u>Cf. Lightbourne v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 54, 56-57 (Fla. 1994) (finding that affidavits, letters, and taped phone calls were properly prohibited at evidentiary hearing because none were admissible under rules of evidence), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1406, 131 L. Ed. 2d 292 (1995).

Appellant did seek to introduce as substantive evidence the testimony of Dr. Walter Hathaway, an optometrist who had reviewed Appellant's 1988 eye exam records from Lake Butler. As later proffered by Appellant, Dr. Hathaway would have testified that Appellant is "extremely nearsighted or myopic. Without wearing glasses, he's - functionally he's blind." (PCR2 94). His eyesight is worse than 20/400. (PCR2 98). And in his opinion Appellant would not have been able to leave the scene of the crime by running out and jumping a fence without his glasses. (PCR2 98). And the lighting conditions at the scene would not have made a difference. (PCR2 103). The trial court sustained the State's objection to this testimony as outside the scope of the remand. (PCR2 103-07).

This ruling was proper since it was clearly beyond the scope of the evidentiary hearing. Appellant challenged trial counsel's

failure to obtain an expert concerning his poor eyesight in Claim I.F. of his 3.850 motion, which this Court determined was properly denied without an evidentiary hearing. Smith v. State, 565 So. 2d 1293, 1295 (Fla. 1990) ('Smith claims that his trial counsel was ineffective [because] . . . he should have obtained expert testimony concerning Smith's poor eyesight; . . . The trial court properly rejected th[is] claim[] . . . [F]ailure to develop eyesight evidence **may** have been the result of a reasonable **strategic** decision to concentrate on other matters.") . Since the denial of this claim had been affirmed, and since the evidentiary hearing **was** limited to Chiquita Lowe's alleged recantation, Dr. Hathaway's testimony was properly prohibited.

Finally, Appellant sought to introduce as substantive evidence the written reports of psychological evaluations performed by Bruce Frumkin, Earnest Cohen, Leslie Alker, Dr. Eichert, and Dr. Koprowski on Eddie Lee Moslev; a deposition of Cynthia Maxwell, who was one of <u>Moslev's</u> victims; an affidavit of Lisa Wiseman, another of <u>Mosley's</u> victims; a court order directing that <u>Moslev</u> be involuntarily hospitalized; a motion to appoint additional experts in one of <u>Moslev's</u> cases; and booking sheets and offense reports relating to five of <u>Mosley's</u> cases. (PCR2 26-47). The prosecutor objected to their introduction because he had never seen the documents before (timeliness), he had no way to question or Cross-

examine the substance of the documents (hearsay), and they were only marginally, if at all, relevant to the issue (relevancy). (PCR2 27-29, 32-35, 40-41, 44-45, 47). The trial court sustained the State's objections to the introduction of these documents on those grounds. (PCR2 35, 45, 47).

As with the list and the newspaper article, these documents were properly excluded. First, they supported a claim of the 3.850 motion which this Court had found to be "insufficiently supported." And second, none were admissible under the rules of evidence, because none fell within any exception to the hearsay rule. Moreover, the State had no way to cross-examine or refute the substance of the doctors' reports, the deposition, the affidavit, the order, the motion, the booking sheets, or the offense reports relating to Mosley. Thus, absent any indicia of their reliability, they were properly denied admission. <u>Cf. Lightbourne</u>, 644 So. 2d at 56-57 (finding that affidavits, letters, and taped phone calls were properly prohibited at evidentiary hearing because none were admissible under rules of evidence).

Even if some or all of the documents fell within a hearsay exception, such evidence was beyond the scope of the evidentiary hearing. The only 'evidence" this Court recognized and referenced in its opinion was Chiquita Lowe's affidavit. It was to this evidence alone that it granted an evidentiary hearing. Thus,

Appellant **was** properly precluded from admitting **any** other extraneous information relating to Eddie Mosley's alleged involvement. Cf. Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325, 1327 (Fla. 1993) (finding no abuse of discretion where trial court cut off defense questioning at evidentiary hearing after finding testimony irrelevant). Therefore, this claim should be denied.

<u>ISSUE II</u>

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR **POSTCONVIC-**TION RELIEF BASED ON ALLEGEDLY NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE (Restated).

On appeal from the summary denial of Appellant's 3.850 motion, this Court remanded for the trial court to consider Appellant's claim that a key identification witness, Chiquita Lowe, had recanted her trial testimony wherein she identified Appellant as the man she had seen in front of the victim's house an hour or so before the murder. <u>Smith v. Dugger</u>, 565 So. 2d 1293, 1294-96 As this Court has previously held, however, (Fla. 1990). "[r]ecantation by a witness called on behalf of the prosecution does not necessarily entitle a defendant to a new trial." Armstrons v, State, 642 So. 2d 730, 735 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1799, 131 L. Ed. 2d 726 (1995). In fact, because such recanted testimony is "exceedingly unreliable," the court must not grant a new trial 'where it is not satisfied that such testimony is true." Id. Thus, in considering such a claim, the trial court must 'examine all the circumstances of the case, including the testimony of the witnesses submitted on the motion for a new trial. . . Only when it appears that, on a new trial, the witness's testimony will change to such an extent as to render probable a different verdict will a new trial be granted." Id. See also

Jones v. State, 591 So, 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991) ("[H]enceforth, in order to provide relief, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.") .

Before applying this test for assessing recanted testimony, however, a trial court faced with **a** claim of newly discovered evidence must determine whether the evidence qualifies as newly discovered. <u>Jones</u>, 591 So. 2d at 916. To qualify as such, the proponent of such evidence must show that the <u>asserted facts</u> were not known to him, trial counsel, or the trial court, and could not have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence at the time of trial. <u>Id.</u>

While a change in a witness' testimony may be "new," the facts underlying the testimony may not be, or the facts underlying it may have been discoverable at the time of trial with the exercise of due diligence. <u>See id.</u> Here, the trial court did not make an initial assessment of the evidence to determine whether it qualified as newly discovered, or at least it did not make a written finding of such. However, if the record supports any valid ground for affirming the trial court's order, it should be affirmed. <u>Caso v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988) ("A conclusion or decision of a trial court will generally be affirmed, even when based on erroneous reasoning, if the evidence or an

alternative theory supports it."), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 870 (1989); <u>see also Glendening v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 839, 841 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (affirming denial of motion for new trial on alternate theories where trial court made no findings), <u>rev. denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1993); <u>McBride v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (affirming denial of 3.850 motion as improper, successive request for relief, although denied improperly by trial court as untimely); <u>Rita v. State</u>, 470 So. 2d 80, 83 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (noting that order denying 3.850 motion "must be affirmed if the record reveals other competent grounds for doing so").

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